





In vitro methods for the evaluation of antimicrobial surface designs

Sjollema, Jelmer; Zaat, Sebastian A J; Fontaine, Veronique; Ramstedt, Madeleine; Luginbuehl, Reto; Thevissen, Karin; Li, Jiuyi; van der Mei, Henny C; Busscher, Henk J

Published in: Acta Biomaterialia

DOI: 10.1016/j.actbio.2018.02.001

IMPORTANT NOTE: You are advised to consult the publisher's version (publisher's PDF) if you wish to cite from it. Please check the document version below.

Document Version Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Publication date: 2018

Link to publication in University of Groningen/UMCG research database

Citation for published version (APA):

Sjollema, J., Zaat, S. A. J., Fontaine, V., Ramstedt, M., Luginbuehl, R., Thevissen, K., Li, J., van der Mei, H. C., & Busscher, H. J. (2018). In vitro methods for the evaluation of antimicrobial surface designs. *Acta* Biomaterialia, 70, 12-24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2018.02.001

Copyright Other than for strictly personal use, it is not permitted to download or to forward/distribute the text or part of it without the consent of the author(s) and/or copyright holder(s), unless the work is under an open content license (like Creative Commons).

The publication may also be distributed here under the terms of Article 25fa of the Dutch Copyright Act, indicated by the "Taverne" license. More information can be found on the University of Groningen website: https://www.rug.nl/library/open-access/self-archiving-pure/taverneamendment.

Take-down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

Downloaded from the University of Groningen/UMCG research database (Pure): http://www.rug.nl/research/portal. For technical reasons the number of authors shown on this cover page is limited to 10 maximum.

Acta Biomaterialia 70 (2018) 12-24

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Acta Biomaterialia

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/actabiomat



In vitro methods for the evaluation of antimicrobial surface designs

Jelmer Sjollema^{a,*}, Sebastian A.J. Zaat^b, Veronique Fontaine^c, Madeleine Ramstedt^d, Reto Luginbuehl^e, Karin Thevissen^f, Jiuyi Li^g, Henny C. van der Mei^a, Henk J. Busscher^a

^a University of Groningen, University Medical Center Groningen, Department of BioMedical Engineering, Antonius Deusinglaan 1, 9713 AV, Groningen, The Netherlands ^b Department of Medical Microbiology, CINIMA (Center for Infection and Immunity Amsterdam), Academic Medical Center, University of Amsterdam, Meibergdreef 15, 1105 AZ Amsterdam, The Netherlands

^c Unit of Pharmaceutical Microbiology and Hygiene, Faculty of Pharmacy, Université Libre de Bruxelles (ULB), Campus Plaine, Boulevard du Triomphe, 1050 Brussels, Belgium

^d Department of Chemistry, Umeå University, SE-901 87 Umeå, Sweden

^e RMS Foundation, Bischmattstrasse 12, 2544 Bettlach, Switzerland

^fCentre for Microbial and Plant Genetics, CMPG, University of Leuven, Kasteelpark Arenberg 20, 3001 Heverlee, Belgium

^g School of Civil Engineering, Beijing Jiaotong University, 3 Shangyuancun, Xizhimenwai, Beijing 100044, China

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 27 October 2017 Received in revised form 12 January 2018 Accepted 1 February 2018 Available online 10 February 2018

Keywords: Biofilm Biomaterial-associated infection Antimicrobial-releasing Contact-killing Non-adhesive

ABSTRACT

Bacterial adhesion and subsequent biofilm formation on biomedical implants and devices are a major cause of their failure. As systemic antibiotic treatment is often ineffective, there is an urgent need for antimicrobial biomaterials and coatings. The term "antimicrobial" can encompass different mechanisms of action (here termed "antimicrobial surface designs"), such as antimicrobial-releasing, contact-killing or non-adhesivity. Biomaterials equipped with antimicrobial surface designs based on different mechanisms of action require different in vitro evaluation methods. Available industrial standard evaluation tests do not address the specific mechanisms of different antimicrobial surface designs and have therefore been modified over the past years, adding to the myriad of methods available in the literature to evaluate antimicrobial surface designs. The aim of this review is to categorize fourteen presently available methods including industrial standard tests for the in vitro evaluation of antimicrobial surface designs according to their suitability with respect to their antimicrobial mechanism of action. There is no single method or industrial test that allows to distinguish antimicrobial designs according to all three mechanisms identified here. However, critical consideration of each method clearly relates the different methods to a specific mechanism of antimicrobial action. It is anticipated that use of the provided table with the fourteen methods will avoid the use of wrong methods for evaluating new antimicrobial designs and therewith facilitate translation of novel antimicrobial biomaterials and coatings to clinical use. The need for more and better updated industrial standard tests is emphasized.

Statement of Significance

European COST-action TD1305, IPROMEDAI aims to provide better understanding of mechanisms of antimicrobial surface designs of biomaterial implants and devices. Current industrial evaluation standard tests do not sufficiently account for different, advanced antimicrobial surface designs, yet are urgently needed to obtain convincing *in vitro* data for approval of animal experiments and clinical trials. This review aims to provide an innovative and clear guide to choose appropriate evaluation methods for three distinctly different mechanisms of antimicrobial design: (1) antimicrobial-releasing, (2) contact-killing and (3) non-adhesivity. Use of antimicrobial evaluation methods and definition of industrial standard tests, tailored toward the antimicrobial mechanism of the design, as identified here, fulfill a missing link in the translation of novel antimicrobial surface designs to clinical use.

© 2018 Acta Materialia Inc. Published by Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

* Corresponding author. E-mail address: j.sjollema@umcg.nl (J. Sjollema).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2018.02.001 1742-7061/© 2018 Acta Materialia Inc. Published by Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.





Contents

Introduction	13
Definition of antimicrobial activity and efficacy	14
The choice of bacterial species and challenge number	15
Sterilization and application of conditioning films prior to evaluation	16
How dead are killed bacteria?	17
Evaluation methods for antimicrobial surface designs	19
6.1. Agar zone of inhibition methods	19
6.2. Suspension methods	19
6.3. Methods comprising a high area to volume ratio	19
6.4. Adhesion-based methods	20
6.5. Biofilm-based methods	21
Concluding comments	21
Acknowledgements	21
References	21
	Introduction Definition of antimicrobial activity and efficacy The choice of bacterial species and challenge number Sterilization and application of conditioning films prior to evaluation How dead are killed bacteria? Evaluation methods for antimicrobial surface designs 6.1. Agar zone of inhibition methods 6.2. Suspension methods 6.3. Methods comprising a high area to volume ratio 6.4. Adhesion-based methods 6.5. Biofilm-based methods Concluding comments Acknowledgements References

1. Introduction

Bacterial adhesion and subsequent biofilm formation on biomedical implants and devices are the main cause of their failure [1]. The incidence rates of biomaterial-associated infection (BAI) depend on the application considered, i.e. for urinary catheters the risk of acquiring an infection rises with 3-7% per day [2,3], central venous catheters (CVC) infections occur 2-4 times per 1000 CVC days [4,5], vascular prosthesis infection rates are between 0.5 and 5% [6], aortic endografts (stents) 0.2–0.7% [7], total hip and knee arthroplasties have infection rates from 1% in primary replacements to 5% in revision surgery [8], while being higher for plates and screws in trauma patients [9] and infections rates for abdominal wall meshes range between 1% and 2% [10]. BAI is difficult to treat with antibiotics since bacteria are on the one hand protected by their biofilm mode of growth and on the other hand not effectively targeted by a compromised host immune system at the site of the implanted biomaterial or device [11–13]. Dental implants, though placed in an unsterile environment, have a relatively low infection rate of around 1% [14], suggested to be due to adaptation of the immune system to the presence of bacteria and biomaterials. BAI often requires surgical replacement of the implant or device, typically accompanied by great discomfort to the patient, loss of quality of life, and high treatment costs [15]. Not seldom, the difficulties associated with the proper diagnosis of BAI lead to severe morbidity and mortality [16]. For instance, cases with low-grade BAI can easily be misdiagnosed as a touch of the flu, with fatal consequences for patients [17].

BAI develops frequently through transfer of commensal bacteria from the skin to an implant or device surface during surgery ("early per-operative contamination") or hospitalization prior to complete wound closure ("late per-operative contamination") [18]. Apart from the per-operative route, bacteria can reach the biomaterial surface through hematogenous spreading from infections elsewhere in the body [19]. Importantly, bacteria may survive in surrounding tissue even after revision surgery, posing novel requirements to treatment strategies [20]. Because therapeutic measures to control BAI often fail and have severe consequences to the patient, emphasis has shifted to prevention of BAI by designing novel antimicrobial biomaterials or coatings for implants and devices [21].

The term "antimicrobial" is rather loosely used in the current literature encompassing different mechanisms of action that, in one way or another, may contribute to the prevention of BAI. Three distinctly different mechanisms of antimicrobial action can be distinguished based on (1) surfaces that release antimicrobials, (2) surfaces that kill adhering bacteria directly upon adhesion without release of antimicrobials (contact-killing) (3) surfaces that are non-

adhesive towards bacteria (non-adhesivity). (Note that we carefully avoid the more general term "antifouling", because it is highly non-specific. "Fouling" refers to any unwanted deposition of material onto a surface, ranging from microorganisms on biomaterials implants and devices to barnacles and mussels in a marine environment, while "anti" encompasses all possible mechanisms that prevent or reduce fouling.) Local release of antimicrobials, like gentamicin and amoxicillin, from biomaterial beads or coatings has been applied in cardiovascular stents, surgical meshes, urinary catheters, orthopedic implants, or trauma devices [22-24]. In addition, antiseptics like chlorhexidine and silver sulfadiazine have been used in drug-releasing central venous catheters [25,26]. Antimicrobial-releasing coatings may be depleted when antimicrobial-release is most needed, while as a second drawback sustained low-level tail-release will contribute to the development of antibiotic-resistance [27]. Therefore contact-killing [28–33] and non-adhesive [34,35] surfaces are considered advantageous for long-term antimicrobial activity. Long-term efficacy of contactkilling surfaces, however, has been questioned because of a potential coverage of the surface by adsorbed proteins from blood, serum or other body fluids or development of a layer of dead bacteria [36]. Yet, efficacy of contact-killing quaternary ammoniumcoated surfaces has been demonstrated over a time period of several days in rats [37] and up to a month in sheep [38]. Herewith contact-killing and non-adhesive surfaces bear promise in applications where hematogenous spreading of bacteria forms a longterm threat as for joint replacements [17], pace-makers or intravenous catheters which are under continuous risk of colonization by cutaneous or subcutaneous bacteria [44,45]. Surfaces that are non-adhesive to bacteria however, are often also non-adhesive to tissue cells, making them less suitable for biomaterial implants and devices requiring tissue integration. Addition of RGDpeptides to a non-adhesive polymer-brush, however, enhanced tissue cell attachment without affecting non-adhesiveness towards Staphylococcus aureus [39,40]. Thus recent advances go beyond the level of a single mechanism of antimicrobial action and comprise dual- or multi-functional antimicrobial coatings combining advantages of both releasing, non-adhesiveness and/or contactkilling designs with features to improve in tissue integration [39]. Also nanotechnology-based antimicrobial strategies are rapidly emerging [41–43], but these too can be classified as working according to either of the three mechanisms of action distinguished in this paper or combinations thereof.

Many experimental antimicrobial surface designs for biomaterials or coatings reported in the literature never get translated to clinical use, mainly because industry requires simple, robust and cheap manufacturing processes for antimicrobial surface designs while regulatory agencies require costly, often statistically impossible,

Table 1

Industrial standard evaluation tests of antimicrobial surface designs and their possible relation with the different methods distinguished in Fig. 1, together with their intended application. (AATCC: American Association of Textile Chemists and Colorists, ASTM: American Society for Testing and Materials, EN: European Standard, ISO: International Standard Organisation, JIS: Japanese Industrial Standard, SN: Schweizerische Normen Vereinigung).

Standard	Application area
AATCC 30	Textiles/Fabrics
Antifungal Activity, Assessment on Textile Materials	
AATCC 90	Textiles/Fabrics
Antibacterial Activity, Assessment of Textile Materials	
AATCC 100	Textiles/Fabrics
Assessment of Antibacterial Finishes on Textile Materials	Terretiles/Febrics
Antibectorial Activity Assocrament of Taytile Materials	Textiles/Fabrics
Antibacterial Activity Assessment of Texture Materials	Textiles/Fabrics
Standard Test Method for Determining the Antimicrobial Activity of Antimicrobial Agents Under Dynamic Contact Conditions	Textiles/Tublies
ASTM E2180-07	Non-porous materials
Standard Test Method for Determining the Activity of Incorporated Antimicrobial Agent(s) In Polymeric or Hydrophobic Materials	I
ASTM E2722	Textiles/Fabrics
Standard Test Method for Using Seeded-Agar for the Screening Assessment of Antimicrobial Activity in Fabric and Air Filter Media	
EN 1104	Paper and board
Paper and Board Intended to come into Contact With Foodstuffs – Determination of the Transfer of Antimicrobial Constituents	
	Plastics
Assessment of the Effectiveness of Fungistatic Compounds in Plastics Formulations	Toutilos/Fabrics
ISU 20043	Textiles/rabiles
ISO 20723	Textiles/Fabrics
Textiles-Determination of Antibacterial Activity of Antibacterial Finished Products	reactices rubries
ISO 22196	Non-porous materials
Plastics – Measurement of Antibacterial Activity on Plastics Surfaces	,
JIS L 1902	Textiles/Fabrics
Testing for Antibacterial Activity and Efficacy on Textile Products	
JIS Z 2801	Non-porous materials
Antimicrobial Products-Test for Antimicrobial Activity and Efficacy	m
SN 195920	lextiles/Fabrics
rextile radius – Determination of the Antibacterial Activity SN 195924	Textiles/Fabrics
Textile Fabrics: Determination of the Antibacterial Activity	i cathes/i ablies
Tendre Fabries, Determination of the Introduction Fleiving	

large clinical trials before allowing market introduction [17]. In addition, it becomes harder and harder to obtain approval for animal studies and in most countries approval for animal experiments is subject to convincing in vitro evidence of efficacy. This puts emphasis on the design of proper in vitro evaluation methods for antimicrobial surface designs, tailored towards specific mechanisms of action [44]. Available industrial standard evaluation tests (see Table 1) are mostly intended to assess the antimicrobial efficacy of non-medical products, such as chemical disinfectants and antiseptics for food and domestic appliances (European Standard, EN 13697), antibacterial plastics (International Organization for Standardization, ISO 22196) or for textiles with improved hygiene, odor control and protection from microbial attack and products for disinfection [45-47]. Industrial standard evaluation tests often do not consider differences in antimicrobial mechanism of a design. Accordingly, many industrial standard tests have been modified over the past years, adding to the myriad of methods available in the literature to evaluate antimicrobial biomaterials or coatings. The aim of this review is to categorize fourteen presently available methods including industrial standard tests for the in vitro evaluation of antimicrobial surface designs for biomaterials implants and devices according to their specific antimicrobial mechanism of action. Suggestions are made for a comprehensive and versatile set of evaluation methods for specific antimicrobial surface designs, enabling cross-laboratory comparison.

2. Definition of antimicrobial activity and efficacy

In order to assess antimicrobial activity of biomaterials and coatings, a proper definition of the term "antimicrobial" is needed. "Antimicrobial" activity according to ISO 20743 is "the activity of an

antibacterial finish used to prevent or mitigate the growth of bacteria, to reduce the number of bacteria or to kill bacteria". The Japanese Industry Standard (JIS) defines "antimicrobial" in JIS Z 2801 as "the condition inhibiting the growth of bacteria on the surface of products". Importantly, whereas ISO 20743 mentions both growth inhibition and bacterial killing in their definition of antimicrobial activity, JIS Z 2801 only mentions growth inhibition. However, no distinction is made between killing and growth inhibition in their definition of antimicrobial activity. Both organizations judge the efficacy of antimicrobial products based on the difference in the logarithmic value of viable cell counts between antimicrobial test products and inert controls after incubation in the presence of a bacterial inoculum

$$\mathbf{A} = \log(C_t/C_0) - \log(T_t/T_0) \tag{1a}$$

in which C_0 and T_0 are the challenge numbers of bacteria before incubation on the control and antimicrobial test sample respectively, while C_t and T_t are the number of bacteria obtained typically after 16–24 h incubation from the control and test sample respectively. Ideally, C_0 and T_0 should be equal numbers, although this is difficult to achieve when evaluating non-adhesive surfaces. In the ideal conditions, Eq. (1a) reduces to its more well-known form

$$A = \log(C_t/T_t) = \log(C_t) - \log(T_t)$$
(1b)

Most available standard methods represented in Table 1 judge efficacy based on the value of antimicrobial activity according to Eq. (1b). It should be noticed however, that due to the use of a logarithmic scale, values for antimicrobial activity greatly depend on the bacterial challenge numbers applied: i.e. a log reduction of 2 involves a much larger reduction in bacterial numbers, when from 10^8 to 10^6 than when from 10^4 to 10^2 . Eq. (1b) can also be applied in its linear, analogous form [28,48–51] in which case it reads

$$A(\%) = 100 - \left(\frac{T_t}{C_t}\right) * 100$$
 (2)

Antimicrobial activity values *A* can be evaluated purely on the basis of statistically significant differences, but from a microbiological perspective, including the criteria in JIS Z 2801, differences are only meaningful when more than two log-units or linearly expressed, more than 99% [52].

3. The choice of bacterial species and challenge number

The microbial species causative to BAI differ greatly among the different sites of functional restoration or support across the human body. Table 2 gives an overview of species causative to BAI of different implants and devices. Many organisms causative to BAI are commensals of the skin, the intestines or the oral cavity, especially after short-term use of an implant or device. Opportunistic pathogens may become involved, especially after longterm use, such as Prevotella intermedia and Porphyromonas gingivalis in BAI associated with dental implants [58]. Infection after short-term use of urinary catheters is often due to Staphylococcus epidermidis, Escherichia coli or Enterococcus faecalis, while after long-term catheterization Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Proteus mirabilis and Klebsiella pneumoniae come into play [61,62]. In relation with studies into BAI and standard industrial tests, it is advisable to use well-known laboratory strains in combination with fresh clinical isolates. The use of laboratory strains offers the advantage of better allowing comparison of results obtained in different institutions and their specific properties are generally well studied. Com-

Table 2

Microbial species involved in BAI among different sites of functional restoration or support across the human body.

Implant or device	Species causative to BAI	References
Joint prostheses	Staphylococcus aureus Staphylococcus epidermidis Streptococci	[53]
Vascular grafts	Staphylococcus epidermidis Staphylococcus aureus	[6]
Central venous catheters	Coagulase-Negative Staphylococci Enterococci Klebsiella pneumonia	[54]
Pace makers	Coagulase-Negative Staphylococci Staphylococcus aureus	[55]
Contact lenses	Pseudomonas aeruginosa Staphylococcus aureus Serratia marcescens	[56]
Biliary stents	Enterococcus faecium Escherichia coli Enterobacter cloacae Klebsiella pneumonia	[57]
Dental implants	Streptococcus mutans Streptococcus sanguinis Streptococcus mitis Actinomyces viscosus Prevotella intermedia Porphyromonas gingivalis	[58,59]
Abdominal wall meshes	Staphylococcus aureus Streptococcus pyogenes Coagulase-Negative Staphylococci Escherichia coli	[10]
Voice prostheses	Candida albicans Streptococci Staphylococcus epidermidis	[60]
Urinary catheters	Escherichia coli Enterococci Klebsiella pneumoniae Coagulase-Negative Staphylococci Pseudomonas aeruginosa Candida albicans Proteus mirabilis	[2,61,62]

pared with clinical isolates however, repeated culturing of laboratory strains may yield loss of their virulence, ability to produce EPS and form biofilms, including quorum sensing [63–65]. Many antimicrobial surface designs in the literature are not geared in their pre-clinical development stage towards a specific implant or device, in which case it is advisable to choose strains and species generally occurring in BAI. From Table 2, it is clear that such a collection of strains should minimally involve Gram-positive species such as S. aureus and S. epidermidis. Since the cell wall architecture of Gram-negative and Gram-positive bacterial strains differs considerably [66] with a possible impact on the efficacy of antimicrobial surface designs, at least one Gram-negative strain should be included too. Accordingly, in JIS Z 2801, it is suggested to use both a Gram-negative E. coli and a Gram-positive S. aureus. Depending on the application aimed for, pathogenic yeasts like *Candida* spp. should be included in the evaluation of antimicrobial surface designs, as they have antimicrobial susceptibilities that are very different from bacteria [67].

Antimicrobial biomaterials and coatings can be challenged with different numbers of microorganisms to evaluate their efficacy. Therapeutic antimicrobial surface designs are mostly applied when a patient shows clear signs of infection and a mature biofilm is present. Therapeutically aimed antimicrobial surface designs such as antibiotic-loaded beads and spacers for the treatment of osteomyelitis [8,68,69] therewith face a much higher microbial challenge than designs aimed to prophylactically counteract the consequences of generally low levels of per-operative microbial contamination. In absence of well-documented data on the numbers of organisms clinically found on biomaterial implants and devices [70], industrial standard tests usually instruct to employ a defined inoculum that is expressed as the number of colony forming units (CFUs) per unit suspension volume, in which a material with a specified surface area is placed. Inoculum concentrations instructed in JIS Z 2801 for instance $(2.5 \times 10^6 \text{ CFU/mL})$, reflect the concentration of bacteria found in urine of patients with a catheter-associated-infection (10^5 even up to 10^8 CFU/mL [61]). but these bear no relation with the number of bacteria found on the catheter surface itself. In a measure of clinically relevant numbers of bacteria per unit area, the Infectious Diseases Society of America [71] states in its guideline on the diagnosis and management of intravenous catheter associated infections, that more than 100 CFUs on a 5 cm catheter tip reflect catheter colonization. This would be roughly equivalent to 30 bacteria per cm². However, much higher localized numbers, i.e. more than 10⁶ bacteria per cm² (roughly equivalent to 1% of full, bacterial mono-layer coverage), can be inferred from electron micrographs and fluorescent in situ hybridization images of biofilms on biomaterial implants and devices retrieved from patients with BAI [70,72-74], but these represent bacterial numbers found in clinical infections, rather than much lower initial per-operative bacterial contamination numbers. Moreover, bacteria involved in per-operative contamination do not yet exhibit a mature biofilm architecture. Here too unfortunately, reliable numbers are absent. Typically, only less than 1 CFU per cm² per hour is detected on a surface under a downward airflow in a ventilated operating theatre [75]. In other studies, 270 bacteria per cm² of bacteria were found to contaminate a wound during surgery [76].

In summary, in the evaluation of antimicrobial surface designs, a challenge concentration should be applied that is in line with the intended application. Considering that most designs are intended for prophylactic use, their evaluation against bacterial challenge numbers derived from biomaterial implants and devices retrieved from patients with clinical signs of infection, will put any prophylactically intended design at a disadvantage. Therefore we here suggest that antimicrobial surface designs intended to negate the potential development of infection arising from per-operative bacterial contamination, should be evaluated at challenge numbers of 1000 CFU per cm² or less. Experimental conditions, especially in the evaluation of non-adhesive designs, often dictate working at concentrations of around 10^8 bacteria per mL, which is far higher than observed for instance, in urine of patients with a catheter associated infection [61]. These considerations should be thoroughly taken into account in any evaluation method of antimicrobial surface designs.

4. Sterilization and application of conditioning films prior to evaluation

In most evaluation methods, antimicrobial surfaces are challenged by bacterial suspensions without further pre-treatment of the sample surfaces. Sterilization of biomaterials may leave residuals on their surface, affecting the surface chemistry designed. In the case of ethylene oxide sterilization, such residuals can be irritating, mutagenic and at high levels leading to organ damage and carcinogenicity [77]. Moreover, sterilization residuals may interfere with an antimicrobial surface design, regardless of its mechanisms [78,79].The relevance of evaluating sterilization effects is most evident in translational studies as sterilization is a prerequisite for implants or devices that are in direct contact with the human body. In particular safety aspects around ethylene oxide use are addressed in the ISO 10993 standard that guides biocompatibility evaluation of medical devices.

Also, in nearly all clinical settings, biomaterial implants or devices are exposed to urine, saliva, tear fluid, sweat, blood, etcetera posing another challenge to antimicrobial surface designs affecting their surface chemistry. Adsorption of macromolecular components such as proteins from these body fluids proceeds much faster than adhesion of bacteria to form a so-called "conditioning film" [80]. Depending again on the application aimed for, the potential presence of a conditioning film on an antimicrobial coating should be taken into account, as for instance many pathogens have specific receptors for salivary and blood-borne protein films [21,81–84]. Moreover, conditioning films may potentially impair the efficacy of antimicrobial-release and contact-killing designs [85,86].

Conditioning films can also form during evaluation of antimicrobial surface designs, especially when the bacterial challenge



Fig. 1. Schematics of agar zone of inhibition (a) and suspension (b) methods, as discussed in this review to evaluate the activity of antimicrobial surface designs, together with an indication of whether the method is identified as being suitable for antimicrobial surface designs based on release of antimicrobials, contact-killing or non-adhesivity.

originates from suspensions in culture medium. Tryptic Soy Broth, for instance, contains enzymatically digested soy bean proteins, whereas Nutrient Broth contains peptones of often undefined animal sources and beef extract. Culture media can also be supplemented with serum, from which many different proteins can sequentially adsorb to a sample surface [87] prior to or during evaluation. Industrial tests provide conflicting instructions on the use of undiluted (e.g. AATCC 100) or diluted (e.g. ISO 20743 and JIS Z 2801) culture media to suspend bacteria, which can subsequently lead to different evaluation results.

Summarizing, it is suggested here that for evaluation of antimicrobial surface designs sterilization or application of an appropriate conditioning film geared to the application aimed for should always be taken into account.

5. How dead are killed bacteria?

There is a plethora of evaluation methods that have been developed and adapted to evaluate different antimicrobial surface designs, that at the end of the assay require enumeration of dead and live bacterial numbers. Whereas most methods are based on culturing and enumeration of the number of CFUs (see Figs. 1–3), many others include live/dead staining, fluorescence *in situ* hybridization (FISH), MTT (based on the reduction of the MTT dye 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyl tetrazolium bromide to the purple formazan by NAD(P)H) or use of bioluminescent strains to demonstrate bacterial death. It is beyond the scope of this review to extensively discuss the merits of the different methods to demonstrate bacterial death. However, different types of

Fig. 2. Schematics of methods comprising a high area to volume ratio, as discussed in this review to evaluate the activity of antimicrobial surface designs, together with an indication of whether the method is identified as being suitable for antimicrobial surface designs based on release of antimicrobials, contact-killing or non-adhesivity.

Fig. 3. Schematics of adhesion (a) and biofilm (b) methods, as discussed in this review to evaluate the activity of antimicrobial surface designs, together with an indication of whether the method is identified as being suitable for antimicrobial surface designs based on release of antimicrobials, contact-killing or non-adhesivity.

antimicrobials can yield highly different types of damage to a bacterium with variable outcomes of a bacterial death quantification. Live/dead staining (e.g. LIVE/DEAD[®] Bacterial Viability Kit (BacLight[™])) composed of two nucleic acid-binding stains: SYTO 9 (green-fluorescent) and propidium iodide (red-fluorescent) [88] in principle demonstrates the presence or absence of cell wall

damage, but it has been shown that cell wall damaged, redfluorescent bacteria usually presumed dead, may sometimes turn out to be culturable as well [89]. Bioluminescence and MTT heavily rely on metabolic activity, but absence of metabolic activity does not necessarily mean bacterial death. Moreover, with respect to culturing as the generally accepted "gold standard", many bacterial strains are not culturable, while specific antimicrobials may bring bacteria in a reversible "dead" state, called "viable-but-not-cultur able" or in an irreversible "dead" state, such as by lysis [90]. This makes demonstration of bacterial death one of the main challenges that microbiologists are facing across all fields of applications on a daily basis [91]. This challenge is extended greatly in the context of BAI. Bacteria in biofilms on biomaterials implants and devices are often subject to programmed cell death or the generation of a hibernation state such as in "persister" or "dormant" cells [92]. Due to their extremely low metabolic activity, persister or dormant cells are less susceptible to antimicrobials and easy to miss in death evaluation methods. With the ongoing discussion on when a bacterium can be declared death in absence of cell lysis as the most evident sign of death, it is advisable to evaluate bacterial death by culture based methods, extended with minimally one other method.

6. Evaluation methods for antimicrobial surface designs

In the forthcoming sections we will briefly describe the most common methods to evaluate antimicrobial surface designs, as schematically depicted in Figs. 1–3, in which we also indicate their suitability with respect to designs based on mechanisms of antimicrobial release, contact-killing or non-adhesivity.

6.1. Agar zone of inhibition methods

In agar zone of inhibition methods [27,46,93–97], samples are placed with their antimicrobial side down on an agar plate inoculated with microorganisms (see Fig. 1a.1). Possible antimicrobials released from a sample subsequently diffuse into the agar vielding a concentration gradient away from the sample. As long as the concentration in the agar is above the minimal inhibitory concentration (MIC), a zone in which bacterial growth is inhibited can be observed, the width of which is taken as a measure of antimicrobial activity. It is recommended that zones of inhibition be measured in different directions or locations, depending on the sample geometry. Typically, a 24–48 h incubation time is applied after which the width of the inhibition zone is measured, as a measure of both the amount of antimicrobial released and the susceptibility of the bacterial strain involved towards the antimicrobial. The method does not provide an antimicrobial activity value as defined in Section 2, while it has been suggested that only a zone of inhibition with a minimal width of 10–15 mm indicates potential clinical significance [98].

Several variations of the above exists, most notably including the regular transfer of samples to a freshly inoculated agar plate in order to study the kinetics of antimicrobial release [99]. Other variations include placing entire catheter sections in holes punched into the agar [26,100] or the use of 3D agar molds to evaluate antimicrobial surface designs on real- or miniaturized implants or devices [101].

The zone of inhibition method is the most commonly used method for evaluating antimicrobial-releasing designs. It can also be used for contact-killing designs by studying bacterial growth directly underneath a sample. Several industrial standard evaluation tests (see Table 1) relate with the zone of inhibition assay, in which inoculated agar is poured over an antimicrobial surface, implant or device before solidification, as e.g. in ASTM 2180 (see Fig. 1a.2). Although culturing on agar counts as the gold standard in antimicrobial evaluation, the method has as a drawback that not all bacterial strains and species are culturable [102], while furthermore zones of inhibition may depend on the rate of diffusion of antimicrobials through the agar [103].

6.2. Suspension methods

In suspension methods such as ASTM E2149 [95,96,104–106], a known challenge number of microorganisms in a suspension volume is exposed to an antimicrobial-releasing sample for defined time periods after which the numbers of CFU in the suspension are assessed and related with those found for control samples (see Fig. 1b.1). Samples are placed in capped glass tubes containing a defined volume of a microbially inoculated suspension medium. After overnight growth under agitation at 37 °C, aliquots are drawn from the suspension medium for agar plating and CFU counting [107.108] to facilitate calculation of the antimicrobial activity according to Section 2. Drawback is the use of microorganisms in their planktonic state, in which they are much more susceptible to antimicrobials than organisms in their biofilm-mode of growth. Although optical density measurements are also done to asses antimicrobial activity [42,109], optical density reflects both live and dead bacteria without distinction. The sample area to fluid volume is critical in these methods and mostly small. This implies that the build-up of a high antimicrobial concentration may be slow or never occurring, particularly not when antimicrobial release is from coatings with low housing capacities.

Immersion of porous, antimicrobially loaded materials such as textile fabrics [46] into a **s**uspension, as in JIS L1902, SN 195924, AATCC 100, and ISO 20743 gives rise to a higher area to volume ratio (see Fig. 1b.2). Absorption of a bacterial suspension in growth medium into a porous material is allowed for a given period of time after which the suspension is removed, assuming bacteria remain entrapped in the medium absorbed in the pores. Next, porous samples are incubated, typically up to 24 h at 37 °C, while entrapped bacteria become exposed to the antimicrobials released. After incubation, bacteria are removed from the porous material by vortexing or sonication followed by serial dilution, agar plating and CFU enumeration and final calculation of antimicrobial activity. To prevent that possible antimicrobial release during vortexing or sonication influences bacterial viability, use of a neutralizing broth has been recommended in EN 1040 [104,110].

Suspension methods are also advocated like in ASTM E2149, to evaluate bacterial contact-killing designs. In such an application of suspension methods, a contact-killing surface is placed in a suspension volume under shaking. Bacterial killing upon contact or adhesion to the sample surface is enumerated from reductions in the number of viable bacteria in suspension. Extensive experimental comparison of methods geared towards evaluation of contactkilling designs has shown this method to be unsuitable for evaluation of contact-killing surfaces, as mass-transport towards the surface is poorly controlled and usually small [111].

6.3. Methods comprising a high area to volume ratio

Suspension methods are generally carried out at small (sample) area to (fluid) volume ratios, which, pending on the clinical application aimed for, is not always a realistic clinical scenario. This can have a severe impact in the evaluation of antimicrobial-releasing designs. Therefore a variety of methods has been developed that allows to work under conditions of high area to volume ratios enabling the rapid build-up of a high concentration of antimicrobials in case of antimicrobial-releasing designs.

In JIS Z 2801 or ISO 22196, high area to volume ratios are established by sandwiching a microbial suspension in 0.2% medium between a sample surface and a cover slip, confining the suspension by capillary forces to around 250 µm thickness (see Fig. 2.1). After incubation for 24 h, bacteria are retrieved by sonication or extensive washing of both the sample material and the cover slip, and subsequently cultured on agar plates followed by enumeration to yield antimicrobial activities according to Section 2 [111–115]. For the evaluation of antimicrobial-releasing bone cements, it has been suggested to grow bacteria in small gaps, cut in the cement. Importantly, bacteria surviving antimicrobial-release from bone cements in suspension methods with a small area to volume ratio, were killed in a gap model [116].

The Petrifilm[®] all-in-one-plating system (3M, St. Paul, MN, USA) [39,111,117–119] originally developed for fast screening of bacterial contamination of food products, is a commercial, ready to use system, consisting of a thin agar coat on a transparent foil that must be folded over a sample surface in presence of a small bacterially contaminated liquid volume of 20–50 µL (see Fig. 2.2). During an incubation time of up to 48 h at 37 °C, bacterial colonies are formed. Apart from nutrients, the foil is also loaded with a stain (tetrazolium chloride) to visualize bacterial colonies that can subsequently be enumerated and used to calculate antimicrobial activity according to Section 2 without any further processing. The combination of agar and stain in an all-in-one-plating method avoids washing or sonication and leaves relatively little waste. The possibility to enumerate bacteria implies applicability of antimicrobial activity values as defined in Section 2, but cannot be directly applied when using high challenge concentrations or when the antimicrobial activity is low. In these cases the foil turns completed stained over the entire sample surface. This drawback can be circumvented for high challenge numbers by diluting the bacterial suspension from which challenge aliquots for inoculation are taken. By determining the number of CFUs of a diluted suspension on samples known to be non-antimicrobial, challenge numbers in more concentrated challenge suspensions can then be easily calculated.

The small volume of the all-in-one-plating method also enforces direct contact of bacteria with the sample, making the method not only suitable for antimicrobial-releasing but also for contact-killing designs. It has been strongly recommended however, that when an all-in-one-plating method is used for evaluating contact-killing surfaces, it should first be ascertained, for instance using a zone of inhibition method, that there are no antimicrobial components leaching out of the sample. Due to the small volume involved in an all-in-one-plating method, leachables may easily interfere with contact-killing mechanisms. Also JIS Z 2801 has been suggested for evaluation of contact-killing designs [111,112]. In a slight modification of JIS Z 2801, a bacterially inoculated filter is placed on a contact-killing surface on which a 20 µL droplet is positioned containing 1% Tryptic Soy Broth after which the procedure is similar to the JIS Z 2801 test [120,121] (see Fig. 2.3). This so called "printing" of bacteria onto a sample to establish direct contact between a contact-killing surface and bacteria has also been prescribed in the ISO 20743 where a standard force of 4 N is applied to press the filter on a sample surface. The modified JIS method however, has yielded bacterial growth on surfaces, indicated in all-in-one-plating and JIS Z 2801 methods as being contactkilling [111], possibly demonstrating more favorable conditions for bacterial growth in the sheltered environment of the filter, as applied in the modified JIS test.

To evaluate contact-killing designs towards bacterial aerosols, spraying has been proposed [28,122,123] (see Fig. 2.4). This method was particularly applied to evaluate contact-killing surfaces that prevent growth of contamination by air-borne pathogens. After spraying a diluted bacterial suspension on test samples, samples are subsequently air-dried for 2 min at room temperature after which agar slabs of growth medium with the size of the sprayed surface are placed on top of the samples and covered with Parafilm[®] to prevent their drying-out during over-

night incubation. Bacterial colonies grown on the sample surfaces in the agar are counted by visual inspection without any further processing of the samples.

In an extensive comparison of methods to evaluate bacterial contact-killing methods against Gram-positive and Gramnegative bacterial strains [111], it has been concluded that Petrifilm[®] all-in-one-plating and JIS Z 2801 methods are most suitable to this end, provided that they are complemented with a zone of inhibition assay to exclude that leachables out of a sample add an additional killing mechanism.

6.4. Adhesion-based methods

Adhesion of bacteria to a substratum surface is one of the first steps in biofilm formation. Methods to study initial bacterial adhesion usually involve adhesion of bacteria from a static or flowing fluid suspension. In static systems, mass transport of microorganisms to substratum surfaces mostly occurs through sedimentation [124], while in flow perfusion systems convective-diffusion contributes to mass transport. Since adhesion implies intimate contact between bacteria and substratum surfaces, adhesion-based methods are excellently suited for evaluating contact-killing designs, especially because contact-killing designs by cationic surfaces will yield electrostatic attraction of bacteria to the surface with an impact on adhesion numbers [125].

Static adhesion assays are relatively easy to carry out, e.g. test samples are exposed to a droplet of a bacterial suspension from which bacteria settle [49,126] (see Fig. 3a.1 and a.2) or are placed in well plates under mild shaking conditions [127] while keeping the number of bacteria allowed to sediment on a substratum surface below monolayer coverage in case of contact-killing designs. After a specific time period in which bacterial adhesion takes place, e.g. 1-4 h, the number of adhering viable bacteria is assessed by first carefully washing off all non-adhering bacteria, and then collecting adhering bacteria by sonication and subsequent CFU counting. By using live/dead staining of adhering bacteria, the ratio of killed bacteria can be determined by fluorescence microscopy. Alternatively, after careful washing off non-adherent bacteria, the sample is covered with a nutrient agar slab (see Fig. 3a.2) and subsequently incubated. No steps to dislodge the bacteria are needed in this case, and individual viable bacteria adhering to the surface grow out as colonies, which are easily counted [91,128].

Drawback of static assays is that enumeration requires washing off non-adherent bacteria, implying that removal of the fluid phase above the substratum should be done extremely careful in order to prevent inadvertent removal of adhering bacteria by passing liquid-air interfaces or flowing fluid in general. Especially passing liquid-air interfaces are notorious for exerting high detachment forces on adhering bacteria causing their removal [129,130].

Static adhesion-based methods are predominantly applied in testing antimicrobial-releasing or contact-killing surfaces, but are less well suited for anti-adhesive designs due to the lack of control of mass transport conditions and fluid flow forces operative during sedimentation and fluid removal. Flow perfusion methods not only allow to control mass transport, but also offer the possibility to accurately calculate the fluid flow forces on the adhering bacteria and fine-tune them to those occurring for instance in urinary catheters, vascular grafts, around artificial heart valves or extraluminal surfaces of cardiovascular catheters or to flow of therapeutic fluids as in intravenous catheters [131]. Different models of flow perfusion systems exist of which the parallel flow chamber is the most common one, particularly since fluid flow forces and mass transport are relatively easy to calculate (see Fig. 3a.3 and a.4) [124,132,133]. When combined with in situ observation of adhering bacteria, "washing" or "slight rinsing artefacts" can be fully avoided making the method extremely suitable to evaluate nonadhesive antimicrobial designs to which bacteria usually adhere very weakly making them amenable to inadvertent removal.

Flow perfusion systems are also highly suitable to evaluate contact-killing designs, in which case the flow of the bacterial suspension after the adhesion phase, is subsequently switched to a flow of nutrient media, that only allows surviving bacteria to grow out and form a biofilm from which bacteria are removed and analyzed by CFU counting and live/dead staining [134]. Alternatively, after the adhesion phase and after flushing out nonadherent bacteria, the chamber can be injected with live/dead stain after which fluorescence microscopy can directly be applied to obtain the antimicrobial efficacy of the sample (without exposing the adhering bacteria to a passing liquid-air interface) [135] (see Fig. 3a.3 and a.4). Flow perfusion systems are less suitable to evaluate antimicrobial-releasing designs as the antimicrobials released are rapidly washed out of the system. In fact, growth of bacteria adhering to antibiotic-releasing bone cements has been observed in flow perfusion systems, that was absent in static systems comprising a high area to volume ratio [136].

6.5. Biofilm-based methods

Biofilm-based methods are in essence similar to adhesion-based methods but are carried out over much longer periods of time and must involve the presence of nutrients. Biofilm-based methods can rely on a plethora of different systems, that include all common static and flow perfusion systems, modified Robbins devices, drip flow reactors including the constant depth film reactor [137–139] rotary biofilm reactors and microfluidic devices [102,140,141].

All biofilm-based methods have to start with an adhesion step (see Fig. 3b), preferentially carried out from a low nutrient suspension as the presence of high nutrient concentrations in suspension eliminates the need for planktonic bacteria to adhere to a surface, where they "know" most nutrients accumulate [31,142] a condition that they have in common with e.g. the JIS Z 2801 method. In the subsequent growth step, nutrient availability can be readily controlled in flow displacement systems which is important to avoid artefacts that might arise for instance from nutrient depletion of the environment in which biofilm growth of adhering bacteria is pursued. Biofilm-based methods seldom yield full eradication of biofilm by any antimicrobial design, and the best that can be achieved by any design is reduced amount of biofilm or delayed growth. In case of antimicrobial-releasing designs, growth inhibition or killing heavily depends on accumulation possibilities of antimicrobials released in the biofilm. This requires an appropriate biofilm structure that prevents wash-out of the antimicrobials, in which respect it is important to notice that biofilms grown in absence of any mechanical environmental stimulus such as under static conditions [31,143] (see Fig. 3b2), are usually fluffy and highly aqueous, which is opposed to biofilms grown in presence of applied compression or under fluid flow [144,145]. Since contact-killing surfaces seldom kill all adhering bacteria, biofilm-based methods will always show biofilm growth on antimicrobial contact-killing designs [134]. Similarly, even on the most non-adhesive poly(ethylene)glycol polymer brush coating, bacteria have been demonstrated to adhere and form a biofilm very slowly, as compared to other surfaces [146]. This puts special emphasis on the inclusion of proper control surfaces in biofilmbased methods and the duration of time allowed for growth. Calculation of antimicrobial activity values according to Eq. (2) is well possible in most cases, but will decrease over time.

7. Concluding comments

This reviews clearly indicates (see Figs. 1–3), that there is no single method or industrial test that allows to distinguish antimi-

crobial designs according to the three mechanisms identified here. However, these figures clearly indicate that for each of the three antimicrobial mechanisms distinguished in this review, suitable methods are available. It is anticipated that use of this review will avoid the use of wrong methods for evaluating new antimicrobial designs and therewith facilitate downward clinical translation. Yet, further method standardization is needed. In particular, simple industry standards should be established that allow adhesion under flow conditions in which shear rates are quantifiable and in a range that complies with shear rates occurring in different clinical applications. In order to create the necessary high through-put, micro-fluidic systems [102,140] may become useful, although their versatility with respect to the materials that can evaluated is limited. Moreover, considering the development of multi-functional coatings [39] that are not only equipped with an antimicrobial functionality but also with tissue integrating moieties, academic developments of co-culture systems [147] should be standardized into industrial tests, preferably encompassing host immune cells as well [148]. In an era in which animal experiments become increasingly difficult to obtain permission for [21,52], these standardizations are extremely important and may reduce the need for animal experiments.

Acknowledgements

This project is funded by the research program of the BioMedical Materials institute (BMM, Project P4.01 NANTICO, co-funded by the Dutch Ministry of Economic Affairs, Agriculture and Innovation).

Parts of the paper reflect the outcomes of the Patras and Bratislava meetings organized in May 2015 and February 2016, funded by the European Commission (Cost Action TD1305, IPROMEDAI). HJB is also director of a consulting company SASA BV. The authors declare no potential conflicts of interest with respect to authorship and/or publication of this article. Opinions and assertions contained herein are those of the authors and are not construed as necessarily representing views of the funding organization or their respective employer(s).

References

- W. Costerton, R. Veeh, M. Shirtliff, M. Pasmore, C. Post, G. Ehrlich, The application of biofilm science to the study and control of chronic bacterial infections, J. Clin. Invest. 112 (2003) 1466–1477.
- [2] L.E. Nicolle, Catheter associated urinary tract infections, Antimicrob. Resist. Infect. Control 3 (2014) 23.
- [3] J.R. Johnson, M.A. Kuskowski, T.J. Wilt, Systematic review: antimicrobial urinary catheters to prevent catheter-associated urinary tract infection in hospitalized patients, Ann. Intern. Med. 144 (2006) 116–126.
- [4] T.I.I. van der Kooi, J.C. Wille, B.H.B. van Benthem, Catheter application, insertion vein and length of ICU stay prior to insertion affect the risk of catheter-related bloodstream infection, J. Hosp. Infect. 80 (2012) 238–244.
- [5] M. Gominet, F. Compain, C. Beloin, D. Lebeaux, Central venous catheters and biofilms : where do we stand in 2017?, Acta Pathol Microbiol. Immunol. Scand. 125 (2017) 365–375.
- [6] T. Hernández-Richter, H.M. Schardey, F. Wittmann, S. Mayr, M. Schmitt-Sody, S. Blasenbreu, M.M. Heiss, C. Gabka, M.K. Angele, Rifampin and triclosan but not silver is effective in preventing bacterial infection of vascular dacron graft material, Eur. J. Vasc. Endovasc. Surg. 26 (2003) 550–557.
- [7] A. Laser, N. Baker, J. Rectenwald, J.L. Eliason, E. Criado-Pallares, G.R. Upchurch, Graft infection after endovascular abdominal aortic aneurysm repair, J. Vasc. Surg. 54 (2011) 58–63.
- [8] J.A.P. Geurts, D.M.C. Janssen, A.G.H. Kessels, G.H.I.M. Walenkamp, Good results in postoperative and hematogenous deep infections of 89 stable total hip and knee replacements with retention of prosthesis and local antibiotics, Acta Orthop. 84 (2013) 509–516.
- [9] A. Moroni, F. Vannini, M. Mosca, S. Giannini, State of the art review: techniques to avoid pin loosening and infection in external fixation, J. Orthop. Trauma. 16 (2002) 189–195.
- [10] A.F. Engelsman, H.C. van der Mei, R.J. Ploeg, H.J. Busscher, The phenomenon of infection with abdominal wall reconstruction, Biomaterials 28 (2007) 2314– 2327.

- [11] W. Zimmerli, P. Sendi, Pathogenesis of implant-associated infection: the role of the host, Semin. Immunopathol. 33 (2011) 295–306.
- [12] J.J. Boelens, J. Dankert, J.L. Murk, J.J. Weening, T. van der Poll, K.P. Dingemans, L. Koole, J.D. Laman, S.A.J. Zaat, Biomaterial-associated persistence of Staphylococcus epidermidis in pericatheter macrophages, J. Infect. Dis. 181 (2000) 1337–1349.
- [13] C.A.N. Broekhuizen, M.J. Schultz, A.C. van der Wal, L. Boszhard, L. de Boer, C.M. J.E. Vandenbroucke-Grauls, S.A.J. Zaat, Tissue around catheters is a niche for bacteria associated with medical device infection, Crit. Care Med. 36 (2008) 2395–2402.
- [14] C. Yue, B. Zhao, R. Kuijer, H.C. van der Mei, H.J. Busscher, E.T.J. Rochford, The implant infection paradox: Why do some succeed when others fail? opinion and discussion paper, Eur. Cells Mater. 29 (2015) 303–313.
- [15] A.F. Engelsman, I.C. Saldarriaga-Fernandez, M.R. Nejadnik, G.M. van Dam, K.P. Francis, R.J. Ploeg, H.J. Busscher, H.C. van der Mei, The risk of biomaterialassociated infection after revision surgery due to an experimental primary implant infection, Biofouling 26 (2010) 761–767.
- [16] J.L.M. Bruggink, A.W.J.M. Glaudemans, B.R. Saleem, R. Meerwaldt, H. Alkefaji, T.R. Prins, R.H.J.A. Slart, C.J. Zeebregts, Accuracy of FDG-PETeCT in the diagnostic work-up of vascular prosthetic graft infection, Eur. J. Vasc. Endovasc. Surg. 40 (2010) 348–354.
- [17] D.W. Grainger, H.C. van der Mei, P.C. Jutte, J.J.A.M. van den Dungen, M.J. Schultz, B.F.A.M. van der Laan, S.A.J. Zaat, H.J. Busscher, Critical factors in the translation of improved antimicrobial strategies for medical implants and devices, Biomaterials 34 (2013) 9237–9243.
- [18] H.J. Busscher, R.J. Ploeg, H.C. van der Mei, SnapShot: Biofilms and biomaterials; mechanisms of medical device related infections, Biomaterials 30 (2009) 4247–4248.
- [19] A. Trampuz, W. Zimmerli, Diagnosis and treatment of implant-associated septic arthritis and osteomyelitis, Curr. Infect. Dis. Rep. 10 (2008) 394–403.
- [20] C.A.N. Broekhuizen, L. de Boer, K. Schipper, C.D. Jones, S. Quadir, R.G. Feldman, J. Dankert, C.M.J.E. Vandenbroucke-Grauls, J.J. Weening, S.A.J. Zaat, Periimplant tissue is an important niche for Staphylococcus epidermidis in experimental biomaterial-associated infection in mice, Infect. Immun. 75 (2007) 1129–1136.
- [21] H.J. Busscher, H.C. van der Mei, G. Subbiahdoss, P.C. Jutte, J.J.A.M. van den Dungen, S.A.J. Zaat, M.J. Schultz, D.W. Grainger, Biomaterial-associated infection: locating the finish line in the race for the surface, Sci. Transl. Med. 4 (2012). 153rv10-153rv10.
- [22] P. Wu, D.W. Grainger, Drug/device combinations for local drug therapies and infection prophylaxis, Biomaterials 27 (2006) 2450–2467.
- [23] R.G. Richards, T.F. Moriarty, T. Miclau, R.T. McClellan, D.W. Grainger, Advances in biomaterials and surface technologies, J. Orthop. Trauma. 26 (2012) 703–707.
- [24] C. Alvarez-Lorenzo, C.A. Garcia-Gonzalez, E. Bucio, Stimuli-responsive polymers for antimicrobial therapy: drug targeting, contact-killing surfaces and competitive release, Expert Opin. Drug Deliv. 13 (2016) 1109–1119.
- [25] D.L. Veenstra, S. Saint, S. Saha, T. Lumley, S.D. Sullivan, Efficacy of antisepticimpregnated central venous catheters in preventing catheter-related bloodstream infection: a meta-analysis, JAMA 281 (1999) 261–267.
- [26] D.G. Maki, S.M. Stolz, M.S. Susan, LA. Mernicl, Prevention of central venous catheter-related bloodstream infection by use of an antiseptic-impregnated catheter, An. Intern. Med. 127 (1997) 257–266.
- [27] S.M. Tambe, L. Sampath, S.M. Modak, In vitro evaluation of the risk of developing bacterial resistance to antiseptics and antibiotics used in medical devices, J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 47 (2001) 589–598.
- [28] J.C. Tiller, C.J. Liao, K. Lewis, A.M. Klibanov, Designing surfaces that kill bacteria on contact, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 98 (2001) 5981–5985.
- [29] M. Crismaru, L.A.T.W. Asri, T.J.A. Loontjens, B.P. Krom, J. de Vries, H.C. van der Mei, H.J. Busscher, Survival of adhering staphylococci during exposure to a quaternary ammonium compound evaluated by using atomic force microscopy imaging, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 55 (2011) 5010–5017.
- [30] R.T.C. Cleophas, J. Sjollema, H.J. Busscher, J.A.W. Kruijtzer, R.M.J. Liskamp, Characterization and activity of an immobilized antimicrobial peptide containing bactericidal PEG-hydrogel, Biomacromolecules 15 (2014) 3390– 3395.
- [31] S. Kucharikova, E. Gerits, K. De Brucker, A. Braem, K. Ceh, G. Majdic, T. Spanic, E. Pogorevc, N. Verstraeten, H. Tournu, N. Delattin, F. Impellizzeri, M. Erdtmann, A. Krona, M. Lovenklev, M. Knezevic, M. Frohlich, J. Vleugels, M. Fauvart, W.J. De Silva, K. Vandamme, J. Garcia-Forgas, B.P.A. Cammue, J. Michiels, P. Van Dijck, K. Thevissen, Covalent immobilization of antimicrobial agents on titanium prevents Staphylococcus aureus and Candida albicans colonization and biofilm formation, J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 71 (2016) 936– 945.
- [32] T. Wei, Z. Tang, Q. Yu, H. Chen, Smart antibacterial surfaces with switchable bacteria-killing and bacteria-releasing capabilities, ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces. 9 (2017) 37511–37523.
- [33] R. Kaur, S. Liu, Antibacterial surface design Contact kill, Prog. Surf. Sci. 91 (2016) 136–153.
- [34] P.F. Holmes, E.P.K. Currie, J.C. Thies, H.C. van der Mei, H.J. Busscher, W. Norde, Surface-modified nanoparticles as a new, versatile, and mechanically robust nonadhesive coating: Suppression of protein adsorption and bacterial adhesion, J. Biomed. Mater. Res. Part A 91 (2009) 824–833.
- [35] X. Xie, J. Möller, R. Konradi, M. Kisielow, A. Franco-Obregón, E. Nyfeler, A. Mühlebach, M. Chabria, M. Textor, Z. Lu, E. Reimhult, Automated time-

resolved analysis of bacteria-substrate interactions using functionalized microparticles and flow cytometry, Biomaterials 32 (2011) 4347–4357.

- [36] J.F. Da Silva Domingues, S. Roest, Y. Wang, H.C. van der Mei, M. Libera, T.G. van Kooten, H.J. Busscher, Macrophage phagocytic activity toward adhering staphylococci on cationic and patterned hydrogel coatings versus common biomaterials, Acta Biomater. 18 (2015) 1–8.
- [37] B. Gottenbos, H.C. van der Mei, F. Klatter, P. Nieuwenhuis, H.J. Busscher, In vitro and in vivo antimicrobial activity of covalently coupled quaternary ammonium silane coatings on silicone rubber, Biomaterials 23 (2002) 1417– 1423.
- [38] T.P. Schaer, S. Stewart, B.B. Hsu, A.M. Klibanov, Hydrophobic polycationic coatings that inhibit biofilms and support bone healing during infection, Biomaterials 33 (2012) 1245–1254.
- [39] J. Sjollema, H. Keul, H.C. van der Mei, R. Dijkstra, M. Rustema-Abbing, J. de Vries, T. Loontjens, T. Dirks, H.J. Busscher, A trifunctional, modular biomaterial coating: Nonadhesive to bacteria, chlorhexidine-releasing and tissue-integrating, Macromol. Biosci. 17 (2017) 1600336.
- [40] M. Krishnamoorthy, S. Hakobyan, M. Ramstedt, J.E. Gautrot, Surface-initiated polymer brushes in the biomedical field: Applications in membrane science, biosensing, cell culture, regenerative medicine and antibacterial coatings, Chem. Rev. 114 (2014) 10976–11026.
- [41] Q. Yu, Z. Wu, H. Chen, Dual-function antibacterial surfaces for biomedical applications, Acta Biomater. 16 (2015) 1–13.
- [42] Y. Xiang, J. Li, X. Liu, Z. Cui, X. Yang, K.W.K. Yeung, H. Pan, S. Wu, Construction of poly (lactic- co -glycolic acid)/ ZnO nanorods/Ag nanoparticles hybrid coating on Ti implants for enhanced antibacterial activity and biocompatibility, Mater. Sci. Eng. C. 79 (2017) 629–637.
- [43] Y. Zhu, X. Liu, K.W.K. Yeung, P.K. Chu, S. Wu, Biofunctionalization of carbon nanotubes/chitosan hybrids on Ti implants by atom layer deposited ZnO nanostructures, Appl. Surf. Sci. 400 (2017) 14–23.
- [44] M. Malone, D.M. Goeres, I. Gosbell, K. Vickery, S. Jensen, P. Stoodley, Approaches to biofilm-associated infections: the need for standardized and relevant biofilm methods for clinical applications, Expert Rev. Anti. Infect. Ther. 15 (2016) 147–156.
- [45] B. Meyer, V.N. Morin, H.-J. Rödger, J. Holah, C. Bird, Do European standard disinfectant tests truly simulate in-use microbial and organic soiling conditions on food preparation surfaces?, J Appl. Microbiol. 108 (2010) 1344–1351.
- [46] Y. Gao, R. Cranston, Recent advances in antimicrobial treatments of textiles, Text. Res. J. 78 (2008) 60–72.
- [47] Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, Environment directorate: Joint meeting of the chemicals committee and the working party on chemicals, pesticides and biotechnology, Analysis and assessment of current protocols to develop harmonised test methods and relevant performance standards for the efficacy testing of treated articles/treated materials, OECD Environment, Health and Safety Publications, Series on Pesticides No. 36 (2007) 1–48.
- [48] L.A.T.W. Asri, M. Crismaru, S. Roest, Y. Chen, O. Ivashenko, P. Rudolf, J.C. Tiller, H.C. van der Mei, T.J.A. Loontjens, H.J. Busscher, A. Shape-adaptive, antibacterial-coating of immobilized quaternary-ammonium compounds tethered on hyperbranched polyurea and its mechanism of action, Adv. Funct. Mater. 24 (2014) 346–355.
- [49] V. Humblot, J.F. Yala, P. Thebault, K. Boukerma, A. Héquet, J.M. Berjeaud, C.M. Pradier, The antibacterial activity of Magainin I immobilized onto mixed thiols self-assembled monolayers, Biomaterials 30 (2009) 3503–3512.
- [50] A. Roosjen, H.J. Busscher, W. Norde, H.C. van der Mei, Bacterial factors influencing adhesion of Pseudomonas aeruginosa strains to a poly(ethylene oxide) brush, Microbiology 152 (2006) 2673–2682.
- [51] L.G. Harris, S. Tosatti, M. Wieland, M. Textor, R.G. Richards, Staphylococcus aureus adhesion to titanium oxide surfaces coated with non-functionalized and peptide-functionalized poly(L-lysine)-grafted- poly(ethylene glycol) copolymers, Biomaterials 25 (2004) 4135–4148.
- [52] T.F. Moriarty, D.W. Grainger, R.G. Richards, Challenges in linking preclinical anti-microbial research strategies with clinical outcomes for deviceassociated infections, Eur. Cells Mater. 28 (2014) 112–128.
- [53] J.R. Lentino, Prosthetic joint infections: bane of orthopedists, challenge for infectious disease specialists, Clin. Infect. Dis. 36 (2003) 1157–1161.
- [54] N. Safdar, D.G. Maki, The pathogenesis of catheter-related bloodstream infection with noncuffed short-term central venous catheters, Intensive Care Med. 30 (2004) 62–67.
- [55] M.R. Sohail, D.Z. Uslan, A.H. Khan, P.A. Friedman, D.L. Hayes, W.R. Wilson, J.M. Steckelberg, S. Stoner, L.M. Baddour, Management and outcome of permanent pacemaker and implantable cardioverter-defibrillator infections, J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 49 (2007) 1851–1859.
- [56] K.H. Cheng, S.L. Leung, H.W. Hoekman, W.H. Beekhuis, P.G.H. Mulder, A.J.M. Geerards, Incidence of contact-lens-associated microbial keratitis and its related morbidity, Lancet 354 (1999) 181–185.
- [57] G. Molinari, V. Pugliese, G.C. Schito, C.A. Guzmán, Bacteria involved in the blockage of biliary stents and their susceptibility to antibacterial agents, Eur. J. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. Dis. 15 (1996) 88–92.
- [58] W.J. Loesche, Role of Streptococcus mutans in human dental decay, Microbiol. Rev. 50 (1986) 353–380.
- [59] G. Charalampakis, Å. Leonhardt, P. Rabe, G. Dahlén, Clinical and microbiological characteristics of peri-implantitis cases: A retrospective multicentre study, Clin. Oral Implants Res. 23 (2012) 1045–1054.

- [60] E.P. Everaert, H.F. Mahieu, B. van de Belt-Gritter, A.J. Peeters, G.J. Verkerke, H. C. van der Mei, H.J. Busscher, Biofilm formation in vivo on perfluoroalkylsiloxane-modified voice prostheses, Arch. Otolaryngol. Head. Neck Surg. 125 (1999) 1329–1332.
- [61] D.J. Stickler, Clinical complications of urinary catheters caused by crystalline biofilms: Something needs to be done, J. Intern. Med. 276 (2014) 120–129.
- [62] D.J. Stickler, Bacterial biofilms in patients with indwelling urinary catheters, Nat. Clin. Pract. Urol. 5 (2008) 598–608.
- [63] J. Hoffmann, J. Altenbuchner, Hyaluronic acid production with Corynebacterium glutamicum: effect of media composition on yield and molecular weight, J. Appl. Microbiol. 117 (2014) 663–678.
- [64] C. Trappetti, L. Gualdi, L. Di Meola, P. Jain, C.C. Korir, P. Edmonds, F. Iannelli, S. Ricci, G. Pozzi, M.R. Oggioni, The impact of the competence quorum sensing system on Streptococcus pneumoniae biofilms varies depending on the experimental model, BMC Microbiol. 11 (2011) 75.
- [65] S.L. Castro, M. Nelman-Gonzalez, C.A. Nickerson, C.M. Ott, Induction of attachment-independent biofilm formation and repression of hfq expression by low-fluid-shear culture of Staphylococcus aureus, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 77 (2011) 6368–6378.
- [66] M.T. Cabeen, C. Jacobs-Wagner, Bacterial cell shape, Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 3 (2005) 601-610.
- [67] M.A. Pfaller, D.J. Diekema, Epidemiology of invasive candidiasis: A persistent public health problem, Clin. Microbiol. Rev. 20 (2007) 133–163.
- [68] K. Yamamoto, N. Miyagawa, T. Masaoka, Y. Katori, T. Shishido, A. Imakiire, Clinical effectiveness of antibiotic-impregnated cement spacers for the treatment of infected implants of the hip joint, J. Orthop. Sci. 8 (2003) 823– 828.
- [69] R.A. Oliver, V. Lovric, Y. Yu, C. Christou, S.S. Aiken, J.J. Cooper, W.R. Walsh, Development of a novel model for the assessment of dead-space management in soft tissue, PLoS One 10 (2015) e0136514.
- [70] T. Bjarnsholt, M. Alhede, M. Alhede, S.R. Eickhardt-Sørensen, C. Moser, M. Kühl, P.Ø. Jensen, N. Høiby, The in vivo biofilm, Trends Microbiol. 21 (2013) 466–474.
- [71] L.A. Mermel, M. Allon, E. Bouza, D.E. Craven, P. Flynn, N.P. O'Grady, I.I. Raad, B. J.A. Rijnders, R.J. Sherettz, D.K. Warren, Clinical practice guidelines for the diagnosis and management of intravascular catheter-related infection: 2009 Update by the Infectious Diseases Society of America, Clin. Infect. Dis. 49 (2009) 1–45.
- [72] M.A. Jongsma, F.D.H. Pelser, H.C. van der Mei, J. Atema-Smit, B. van de Belt-Gritter, H.J. Busscher, Y. Ren, Biofilm formation on stainless steel and gold wires for bonded retainers in vitro and in vivo and their susceptibility to oral antimicrobials, Clin. Oral Investig. 17 (2013) 1209–1218.
- [73] D. Neut, H. van de Belt, I. Stokroos, J.R. van Horn, H.C. van der Mei, H.J. Busscher, Orthopaedic revision surgery, J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 885–891 (2001).
- [74] L. Hall-stoodley, P. Stoodley, S. Kathju, N. Høiby, C. Moser, J. William, A. Moter, T. Bjarnsholt, Towards diagnostic guidelines for biofilm-associated infections, FEMS Immunol. Med. Microbiol. 65 (2012) 127–145.
- [75] K. Verkkala, A. Eklund, J. Ojajärvi, L. Tiittanen, J. Hoborn, P. Mäkelä, The conventionally ventilated operating theatre and air contamination control during cardiac surgery - Bacteriological and particulate matter control garment options for low level contamination, Eur. J. Cardio-Thoracic Surg. 14 (1998) 206–210.
- [76] R.H. Fitzgerald, Microbiologic environment of the conventional operating room, Arch. Surg. 114 (1979) 772–775.
- [77] V.P. Anand, C.P. Cogdill, K.A. Klausner, L. Lister, T. Barbolt, B.F. Page, P. Urbanski, C.J. Woss, J. Boyce, Reevaluation of ethylene oxide hemolysis and irritation potential, J. Biomed. Mater. Res. Part A 64A (2003) 648–654.
- [78] F. Bretagnol, H. Rauscher, M. Hasiwa, O. Kylian, G. Ceccone, L. Hazell, A.J. Paul, O. Lefranc, The effect of sterilization processes on the bioadhesive properties and surface chemistry of a plasma-polymerized polyethylene glycol film: XPS characterization and L929 cell proliferation tests, Acta Biomater. 4 (2008) 1745–1751.
- [79] P.D. Nair, Currently practised sterilization methods some inadvertent consequences, J. Biomater. Appl. 10 (1995) 121–135.
- [80] J.M. Anderson, A. Rodriguez, D.T. Chang, Foreign body reaction to biomaterials, Semin. Immunol. 20 (2008) 86–100.
- [81] T. Fowler, E.R. Wann, D. Joh, S. Johansson, T.J. Foster, M. Höök, Cellular invasion by Staphylococcus aureus involves a fibronectin bridge between the bacterial fibronectin-binding MSCRAMMs and host cell beta1 integrins, Eur. J. Cell Biol. 79 (2000) 672–679.
- [82] C. Signäs, G. Raucci, K. Jönsson, P. Lindgren, G.M. Anantharamaia, M. Höök, M. Lindberg, Nucleotide sequence of the gene for a fibronectin-binding protein from Staphylococcus aureus: use of this peptide sequence in the synthesis of biologically active peptides, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 86 (1989) 699–703.
- [83] Z. Shi, K.G. Neoh, E.T. Kang, C. Poh, W. Wang, Bacterial adhesion and osteoblast function on titanium with surface-grafted chitosan and immobilized RGD peptide, J. Biomed. Mater. Res. Part A 86 (2008) 865–872.
- [84] H.C. van der Mei, M. Rustema-Abbing, J. de Vries, H.J. Busscher, Bond strengthening in oral bacterial adhesion to salivary conditioning films, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 74 (2008) 5511–5515.
- [85] H.H. Tuson, D.B. Weibel, Bacteria-surface interactions, Soft Matter 9 (2013) 4368-4380.

- [86] I. Banerjee, R.C. Pangule, R.S. Kane, Antifouling coatings: recent developments in the design of surfaces that prevent fouling by proteins, bacteria, and marine organisms, Adv. Mater. 23 (2011) 690–718.
- [87] L. Vroman, Finding seconds count after contact with blood (and that is all I did), Colloids Surfaces B Biointerfaces 62 (2008) 1–4.
- [88] L. Boulos, M. Prévost, B. Barbeau, J. Coallier, R. Desjardins, LIVE/DEAD(*) BacLight(TM): application of a new rapid staining method for direct enumeration of viable and total bacteria in drinking water, J. Microbiol. Methods 37 (1999) 77–86.
- [89] L. Shi, S. Günther, T. Hübschmann, L.Y. Wick, H. Harms, S. Müller, Limits of propidium iodide as a cell viability indicator for environmental bacteria, Cytom. Part A 71 (2007) 592–598.
- [90] L. Netuschil, T. Auschill, Confusion over live/dead stainings for the detection of vital microorganisms in oral biofilms-which stain is suitable?, BMC Oral Health 14 (2014) 2
- [91] F. Hammes, M. Berney, T. Egli, Cultivation-independent assessment of bacterial viability, Adv. Biochem. Eng. Biotechnol. 124 (2011) 123–150.
- [92] K. Lewis, Persister cells, Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 64 (2010) 357–372.
- [93] E. Hart, K. Azzopardi, H. Taing, F. Graichen, J. Jeffery, R. Mayadunne, M. Wickramaratna, M. O'Shea, B. Nijagal, R. Watkinson, S. O'Leary, B. Finnin, R. Tait, R. Robins-Browne, Efficacy of antimicrobial polymer coatings in an animal model of bacterial infection associated with foreign body implants, J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 65 (2010) 974–980.
- [94] L.A. Sampath, N. Chowdhury, L. Caraos, S.M. Modak, Infection resistance of surface modified catheters with either short-lived or prolonged activity, J. Hosp. Infect. 30 (1995) 201–210.
- [95] C.D. Klink, M. Binnebösel, A. Lambertz, H.P. Alizai, A. Roeth, J. Otto, U. Klinge, U.P. Neumann, K. Junge, In vitro and in vivo characteristics of gentamicinsupplemented polyvinylidenfluoride mesh materials, J. Biomed. Mater. Res. Part A 100 A (2012) 1195–1202.
- [96] K. Junge, R. Rosch, U. Klinge, C. Krones, B. Klosterhalfen, P.R. Mertens, P. Lynen, D. Kunz, A. Preiß, H. Peltroche-Llacsahuanga, V. Schumpelick, Gentamicin supplementation of polyvinylidenfluoride mesh materials for infection prophylaxis, Biomaterials 26 (2005) 787–793.
- [97] S.Y. Wong, J.S. Moskowitz, J. Veselinovic, R.A. Rosario, K. Timachova, M.R. Blaisse, R.C. Fuller, A.M. Klibanov, P.T. Hammond, Dual functional polyelectrolyte multilayer coatings for implants: Permanent microbicidal base with controlled release of therapeutic agents, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 132 (2010) 17840–17848.
- [98] R.O. Darouiche, M.D. Mansouri, I.I. Raad, Efficacy of antimicrobialimpregnated silicone sections from penile implants in preventing device colonization in an animal model, Urology 59 (2002) 303–307.
- [99] D. Neut, R.J.B. Dijkstra, J.I. Thompson, C. Kavanagh, H.C. van der Mei, H.J., Busscher, A biodegradable gentamicin-hydroxyapatite-coating for infection prophylaxis in cementless hip prostheses, Eur. Cells Mater. 29 (2015) 42–56.
- [100] L.A. Mermel, S.M. Stolz, D.G. Maki, Surface antimicrobial activity of heparinbonded and antiseptic-impregnated vascular catheters, J. Infect. Dis. 167 (1993) 920–924.
- [101] D. Neut, R.J.B. Dijkstra, J.I. Thompson, H.C. van der Mei, H.J. Busscher, A gentamicin-releasing coating for cementless hip prostheses-longitudinal evaluation of efficacy using in vitro bio-optical imaging and its widespectrum antibacterial efficacy, J. Biomed. Mater. Res. Part A 100 A (2012) 3220–3226.
- [102] J. Azeredo, N.F. Azevedo, R. Briandet, N. Cerca, T. Coenye, A.R. Costa, M. Desvaux, G. Di Bonaventura, M. Hébraud, Z. Jaglic, M. Kačániová, S. Knøchel, A. Lourenço, F. Mergulhão, R.L. Meyer, G. Nychas, M. Simões, O. Tresse, C. Sternberg, Critical review on biofilm methods, Crit. Rev. Microbiol. 43 (2017) 313–351.
- [103] L.A. Cavenaghi, E. Biganzoli, F. Parenti, A. Danese, Diffusion of teicoplanin and vancomycin in agar, Diagn. Microbiol. Infect. Dis. 15 (1992) 253–258.
- [104] K.D. Sinclair, T.X. Pham, R.W. Farnsworth, D.L. Williams, C. Loc-Carrillo, L.A. Horne, S.H. Ingebretsen, R.D. Bloebaum, Development of a broad spectrum polymer-released antimicrobial coating for the prevention of resistant strain bacterial infections, J. Biomed. Mater. Res. Part A 100 A (2012) 2732–2738.
- [105] H. Murata, R.R. Koepsel, K. Matyjaszewski, A.J. Russell, Permanent, nonleaching antibacterial surfaces-2: How high density cationic surfaces kill bacterial cells, Biomaterials 28 (2007) 4870–4879.
- [106] E. Verraedt, A. Braem, A. Chaudhari, K. Thevissen, E. Adams, L. Van Mellaert, B. P.A. Cammue, J. Duyck, J. Anné, J. Vleugels, J.A. Martens, Controlled release of chlorhexidine antiseptic from microporous amorphous silica applied in open porosity of an implant surface, Int. J. Pharm. 419 (2011) 28–32.
- [107] Y. Chang, W.C. Chen, P.H. Hsieh, D.W. Chen, M.S. Lee, H.N. Shih, S.W.N. Ueng, In vitro activities of daptomycin-, vancomycin-, and teicoplanin-loaded polymethylmethacrylate against methicillin-susceptible, methicillinresistant, and vancomycin-intermediate strains of Staphylococcus aureus, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 55 (2011) 5480–5484.
- [108] J. Fu, J. Ji, W. Yuan, J. Shen, Construction of anti-adhesive and antibacterial multilayer films via layer-by-layer assembly of heparin and chitosan, Biomaterials 26 (2005) 6684–6692.
- [109] T. Wang, X. Liu, Y. Zhu, Z.D. Cui, X.J. Yang, H. Pan, K.W.K. Yeung, S. Wu, Metal ion coordination polymer-capped pH-triggered drug release system on titania nanotubes for enhancing self-antibacterial capability of Ti implants, ACS Biomater. Sci. Eng. 3 (2017) 816–825.
- [110] B.P. Dey, F.B. Engley, Neutralization of antimicrobial chemicals by recovery media, J. Microbiol. Methods 19 (1994) 51–58.

- [111] M. van de Lagemaat, A. Grotenhuis, B. van de Belt-Gritter, S. Roest, T.J.A. Loontjens, H.J. Busscher, H.C. van der Mei, Y. Ren, Comparison of methods to evaluate bacterial contact-killing materials, Acta Biomater. 59(2017) 139–147.
- [112] R.T.C. Cleophas, M. Riool, H.C. Quarles van Ufford, S.A.J. Zaat, J.A.W. Kruijtzer, R.M.J. Liskamp, Convenient preparation of bactericidal hydrogels by covalent attachment of stabilized antimicrobial peptides using thiol–ene click chemistry, ACS Macro Lett. 3 (2014) 477–480.
- [113] F. Brodkorb, B. Fischer, K. Kalbfleisch, O. Robers, C. Braun, S. Dohlen, J. Kreyenschmidt, R. Lorenz, M. Kreyenschmidt, Development of a new monomer for the synthesis of intrinsic antimicrobial polymers with enhanced material properties, Int. J. Mol. Sci. 16 (2015) 20050–20066.
- [114] J. Mungkalasiri, L. Bedel, F. Emieux, A.V. Di Cara, J. Freney, F. Maury, F.N.R. Renaud, Antibacterial properties of TiO2-Cu composite thin films grown by a one step DLICVD process, Surf. Coatings Technol. 242 (2014) 187–194.
- [115] S. Egger, R.P. Lehmann, M.J. Height, M.J. Loessner, M. Schuppler, Antimicrobial properties of a novel silver-silica nanocomposite material, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 75 (2009) 2973–2976.
- [116] J.G.E. Hendriks, J.R. van Horn, R.S.Z. Kowalski, H.C. van der Mei, H.J. Busscher, Antimicrobial efficacy of gentamicin-loaded acrylic bone cements with fusidic acid or clindamycin added, J. Orthop. Res. 291–299 (2006).
- [117] S. Pavlukhina, I. Zhuk, A. Mentbayeva, E. Rautenberg, W. Chang, X. Yu, B. van de Belt-Gritter, H.J. Busscher, H.C. van der Mei, S.A. Sukhishvili, Smallmolecule-hosting nanocomposite films with multiple bacteria-triggered responses, NPG Asia Mater. 6 (2014) e121.
- [118] D. Neut, R.J.B. Dijkstra, J.I. Thompson, H.C. van der Mei, H.J. Busscher, Antibacterial efficacy of a new gentamicin-coating for cementless prostheses compared to gentamicin-loaded bone cement, J. Orthop. Res. 29 (2011) 1654–1661.
- [119] B.G. Fritz, D.K. Walker, D.E. Goveia, A.E. Parker, D.M. Goeres, Evaluation of petrifilm[™] aerobic count plates as an equivalent alternative to drop plating on R2A agar plates in a biofilm disinfectant efficacy test, Curr. Microbiol. 70 (2015) 450–456.
- [120] B.S. Nécula, L.E. Fratila-Apachitei, S.A.J. Zaat, I. Apachitei, J. Duszczyk, In vitro antibacterial activity of porous TiO2-Ag composite layers against methicillinresistant Staphylococcus aureus, Acta Biomater. 5 (2009) 3573–3580.
- [121] M. Riool, A.J. Dirks, V. Jaspers, L. de Boer, T.J.A. Loontjens, C.M. van der Loos, S. Florquin, I. Apachitei, L.N.D. Rijk, H.A. Keul, S.A.J. Zaat, A chlorhexidine-releasing epoxy-based coating on titanium implants prevents Staphylococcus aureus experimental biomaterial-associated infection, Eur. Cells Mater. 33 (2017) 143–157.
- [122] J.C. Tiller, S.B. Lee, K. Lewis, A.M. Klibanov, Polymer surfaces derivatized with poly(vinyl-N-hexylpyridinium) kill airborne and waterborne bacteria, Biotechnol. Bioeng. 79 (2002) 465–471.
- [123] C.J. Waschinski, J. Zimmermann, U. Salz, R. Hutzier, G. Sadowski, J.C. Tiller, Design of contact-active antimicrobial acrylate-based materials using biocidal macromers, Adv. Mater. 20 (2008) 104–108.
- [124] J. Li, H.J. Busscher, H.C. van der Mei, W. Norde, B.P. Krom, J. Sjollema, Analysis of the contribution of sedimentation to bacterial mass transport in a parallel plate flow chamber. Part II: Use of fluorescence imaging, Colloids Surf., B Biointerfaces 87 (2011) 427–432.
- [125] R. Bos, H.C. van der Mei, H.J. Busscher, Physico-chemistry of initial microbial adhesive interactions - Its mechanisms and methods for study, FEMS Microbiol. Rev. 23 (1999) 179–229.
- [126] A. Héquet, V. Humblot, J. Berjeaud, C. Pradier, Optimized grafting of antimicrobial peptides on stainless steel surface and biofilm resistance tests, Colloids and Surf. B Biointerfaces 84 (2011) 301–309.
- [127] J.J.T.M. Swartjes, T. Das, S. Sharifi, G. Subbiahdoss, P.K. Sharma, B.P. Krom, H.J. Busscher, H.C. van der Mei, A functional DNase I coating to prevent adhesion of bacteria and the formation of biofilm, Adv. Funct. Mater. 23 (2013) 2843– 2849.
- [128] S.Y. Wong, Q. Li, J. Veselinovic, B.S. Kim, A.M. Klibanov, P.T. Hammond, Bactericidal and virucidal ultrathin films assembled layer by layer from polycationic N-alkylated polyethylenimines and polyanions, Biomaterials 31 (2010) 4079–4087.

- [129] C. Gómez-Suárez, H.C. van der Mei, H.J. Busscher, Air bubble-induced detachment of polystyrene particles with different sizes from collector surfaces in a parallel plate flow chamber, Colloids Surfaces A Physicochem. Eng. Asp. 186 (2001) 211–219.
- [130] F. Hizal, C.-H. Choi, H.J. Busscher, H.C. van der Mei, Staphylococcal adhesion, detachment and transmission on nanopillared si surfaces, ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces. 8 (2016) 30430–30439.
- [131] D.P. Bakker, A. van der Plaats, G.J. Verkerke, H.J. Busscher, H.C. van der Mei, Comparison of velocity profiles for different flow chamber designs used in studies of microbial adhesion to surfaces, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 69 (2003) 6280–6287.
- [132] A. Yoshihara, H. Narahara, Y. Kuriyama, S. Toyoda, H. Tokumoto, Measurement of microbial adhesive forces with a parallel plate flow chamber, J. Colloid Interface Sci. 432 (2014) 77–85.
- [133] H.J. Busscher, H.C. van der Mei, Microbial adhesion in flow displacement systems, Clin. Microbiol. Rev. 19 (2006) 127-141.
- [134] A.K. Muszanska, H.J. Busscher, A. Herrmann, H.C. van der Mei, W. Norde, Pluronic-lysozyme conjugates as anti-adhesive and antibacterial bifunctional polymers for surface coating, Biomaterials 32 (2011) 6333–6341.
- [135] V. Albright, I. Zhuk, Y. Wang, V. Selin, B. van de Belt-Gritter, H.J. Busscher, H.C. van der Mei, S.A. Sukhishvili, Self-defensive antibiotic-loaded layer-by-layer coatings: Imaging of localized bacterial acidification and pH-triggering of antibiotic release, Acta Biomater. 61 (2017) 66–74.
- [136] H. van de Belt, D. Neut, W. Schenk, J.R. van Horn, H.C. van der Mei, H.J. Busscher, Infection of orthopedic implants and the use of antibiotic-loaded bone cements. A review, Acta Orthop. Scand. 72 (2001) 557–571.
- [137] R.T. Rozenbaum, W. Woudstra, E.D. de Jong, H.C. van der Mei, H.J. Busscher, P. Sharma, A constant depth film fermenter to grow microbial biofilms, Protoc. Exchange (2017).
- [138] I.B. Gomes, A. Meireles, A.L. Gonçalves, D.M. Goeres, J. Sjollema, L.C. Simões, M. Simões, Standardized reactors for the study of medical biofilms: a review of the principles and latest modifications, Crit. Rev. Biotechnol. (2017), https://doi.org/10.1080/07388551.2017.1380601. Epub ahead of print.
- [139] K.J.D.A. Buijssen, J.J.H.O.L. Basil, M. Waters, M.A. Duits, H.J. Busscher, H.C. van der Mei, B.F.A.M. van der Laan, Influence of surface roughness on silicone rubber voice prostheses on in vitro biofilm formation and clinical lifetime in laryngectomised patients, Clin. Otolaryngol. (2017) 1–6.
- [140] T. Coenye, H.J. Nelis, In vitro and in vivo model systems to study microbial biofilm formation, J. Microbiol. Methods 83 (2010) 89–105.
- [141] E. Peeters, H.J. Nelis, T. Coenye, Comparison of multiple methods for quantification of microbial biofilms grown in microtiter plates, J. Microbiol. Methods 72 (2008) 157–165.
- [142] J.M. Schierholz, J. Beuth, Implant infections: a haven for opportunistic bacteria, J. Hosp. Infect. 49 (2001) 87–93.
- [143] A. Braem, K. De Cremer, N. Delattin, K. De Brucker, B. Neirinck, K. Vandamme, J.A. Martens, J. Michiels, J. Vleugels, B.P.A. Cammue, K. Thevissen, Novel antiinfective implant substrates: controlled release of antibiofilm compounds from mesoporous silica-containing macroporous titanium, Colloids Surfaces B Biointerfaces 126 (2015) 481–488.
- [144] R. Valladares Linares, A.D. Wexler, Sz.S. Bucs, C. Dreszer, A. Zwijnenburg, H.-C. Flemming, J.C. Kruithof, J.S. Vrouwenvelder, Compaction and relaxation of biofilms, Desalin. Water Treat. 57 (2016) 12902–12914.
- [145] M. Wagner, H. Horn, Optical coherence tomography in biofilm research: A comprehensive review, Biotech. Bioeng. 114 (2017) 1386–1402.
- [146] M.R. Nejadnik, H.C. van der Mei, W. Norde, H.J. Busscher, Bacterial adhesion and growth on a polymer brush-coating, Biomaterials 29 (2008) 4117–4121.
- [147] G. Subbiahdoss, R. Kuijer, D.W. Grijpma, H.C. van der Mei, H.J. Busscher, Microbial biofilm growth vs. tissue integration: "The race for the surface" experimentally studied, Acta Biomater. 5 (2009) 1399–1404.
- [148] G. Subbiahdoss, I.C. Saldarriaga Fernandez, J.F. da Silva Domingues, R. Kuijer, H.C. van der Mei, H.J. Busscher, In vitro interactions between bacteria, osteoblast-like cells and macrophages in the pathogenesis of biomaterialassociated infections, PLoS One 6 (2011) e24827.